COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, APPELLANT

v.

SPENCER MILLER, RESPONDENT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Judge Frank Cuthbertson

No. 01-1-05476-9

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By STEPHEN TRINEN Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 30925

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it failed to transfer the defendant's motion to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition because the motion was time barred. CP 267-69.
- 2. The trial court erred when it entered Finding/Conclusion No. 1 and determined that RCW 10.73.090 did not bar consideration of the defendant's collateral attack because *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322 (2007) constituted a significant change in the law. CP 268.
- 3. The trial court erred when it entered Finding/Conclusion

 No. 2 that the defendant made a substantial showing that he was entitled to relief. CP 268.
- 4. The trial court erred when it entered Finding/Conclusion
 No. 3 that the court did not believe it had discretion to
 impose a concurrent sentence under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b).
 CP 268.
- 5. The court erred when it entered Finding/Conclusion No. 5 that the court's failure to recognize its discretion to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence constituted a fundamental

defect which inherently resulted in a miscarriage of justice.

CP 269.

6. The trial court erred when it entered is order vacating the defendant's judgment and sentence. CP 268-69.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF</u> ERROR.

- 1. Whether the awkward procedural posture of this case renders the standard of review complicated where it is an appeal of the court's ruling on a collateral attack motion, not a personal restraint petition, but the statutes governing collateral attack and the rules of appellate procedure governing personal restraint petitions are complementary and closely related?
- 2. Whether the defendant's motion was time barred where it was brought several years after the collateral attack time limit expired and did not fall under any exception to the time limit?
- 3. Whether the motion should have been dismissed where the defense did not request an exceptional sentence below the standard range?
- 4. Whether, even if the defendant brought his claim by way of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, it would have nonetheless failed as time barred, and because he failed to establish such a claim?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Procedure

On October 22, 2001, based on an incident that occurred on October 14, 2001, the State charged Spencer Miller as a co-defendant with Count I, attempted murder in the first degree; and Count II, murder in the first degree. CP 1-2. On November 1, 2001 the State filed a Corrected Information that corrected the charge in Count II to attempted murder in the first degree. CP 5-6.

On January 10, 2002, the State filed an Amended Information that added additional co-defendants, added alternative charges of assault in the first degree to Counts I and II, and added Count III, unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree. CP 7-10.

On March 11, 2012 the State filed a Second Amended Information that modified the language in Counts I and II regarding the elements of the completed crime murder in the first degree.² CP 12-15.

After trial, the jury returned verdicts, finding the defendant guilty of Counts I, and II, but did not make the special verdict finding that he was armed with a firearm. CP 16, 17, 21, 22.

¹ Although the crime in Count II was listed as "Murder in the First Degree," the charging language went on to list the elements of attempted murder in the first degree.

² Presumably this was done so that the means could encompass the possibility of transferred intent.

On May 24, 2002, the court sentenced the defendant to 200 months on each count, imposed consecutive to each other for a total sentence of 400 months pursuant to RCW 9.94A.589(b). CP 28-44.

On May 24, 2002 Miller timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 270-75. In that appeal, Miller challenged a number of issues relating to trial, but did not challenge his sentence. *See* CP 49-70. The court affirmed the conviction in an unpublished opinion issued August 17, 2004. The Mandate issued May 9, 2005. CP 46-48.

On September 22, 2008, the defendant filed in superior court a Motion for Reconsideration and New Trial Pursuant to CrR 7.8. CP 71; 72-75. The motion raised two issues different from those raised in the motion at issue in this appeal. *See* CP 80-82. The motion was transferred to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition. CP 76-77. This court dismissed the petition as time barred. CP 78-79. The certificate of finality was filed on October 12, 2009. CP 80-82.

On October 15, 2010 the defendant filed in superior court a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence. CP 83-101. In that motion, he claimed that the trial court erred by running his sentence consecutive based on a misapprehension that was now clarified by the Washington Supreme Court's opinion in *In re Muholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007) so that [as he claimed] the matter was now properly before the court. CP 83-84. On November 9, 2010, the defendant filed a motion to modify or correct judgment and sentence that raised substantially the same issue. CP

102-103. On November 19, 2010 the state filed a response to the motion to vacate in which it argued that the trial court was required by CrR 7.8 to transfer the motion the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition because the defendant's motion was time barred. CP 104-05. On November 30, 2010 the defendant replied to that argument by asserting, among other things, that as a result of the courts opinion in *Muholland*, the Judgment and Sentence was invalid on its face, and also because the opinion in *Muholland* constituted a significant intervening change in the law. CP 106-112.

On December 10, 2010 the superior court used an uncaptioned blank order form to issue an order transferring the motion to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition. CP 113.

However, on February 3, 2011, because the trial court's order and the attached pleadings failed to comply with the court of appeals requirements for transfer, the court rejected the transfer and returned the matter to the superior court for further appropriate action. CP 114. With no further action having been taken by the superior court, the certificate of finality issued on March 23, 2011. CP 115-116.

On June 7, 2011 Miller filed in superior court a motion to clarify the status of his motion to vacate the judgment and sentence. CP 119-125.

The superior court then considered the motion to vacate on October 7, 2011. See CP 10-07-11. In doing so, the court considered supplemental materials filed by the defendant and then made its ruling in

light of the Washington Supreme Court's opinion in *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322, 166 P.3d 677 (2007). CP 267-69; RP 10-07-11, p. 5, ln. 18-23; p. 8, ln. 7-23; p. 9, ln. 16 to p. 12, ln. 5. The court scheduled a show cause hearing under CrR 7.8 for November 18, 2011. RP 10-07-11, p. 5, ln. 18-23; p. 8, ln. 7-23; p. 9, ln. 16 to p. 12, ln. 5.

On October 12, 2011 the defendant filed supplemental exhibits to his motion to vacate judgment and sentence. CP 145-263. Those exhibits included a copy of the transcript from the original sentencing hearing. CP 145; 175ff. On November 10, 2011 the State filed an additional response with regard to the defendant's motion that directed the court to a portion of the transcript for the sentencing hearing. CP 279-80.

On November 18, 2011, the court entered an order vacating the judgment and sentence previously imposed and setting a new sentencing hearing. CP 267-69; *See also* RP 11-18-11.

On December 14, 2011 the State timely filed a notice of appeal to the order vacating the judgment and sentence pursuant to RAP 2.2(a)(10).

2. Facts

Because the issue raised in this appeal pertains to sentencing, and the court's withdrawal of the defendant's previously imposed sentence, the facts of the underlying case are not essential to the determination of the issues in this appeal. Nonetheless, for the court's convenience the following facts have been copied from the court's unpublished opinion

from Miller's and his co-defendant's appeals of their convictions, *State v. Miller*, Nos. 28847-8-II, 28935-1-II and 28964-4-II, 122 Wn. App. 1074 (2004). *See* CP 46-70.

Robert Bonds and his cousin, Andre Bonds, are two of the thirteen original members of a Tacoma street gang called the Hilltop Crips.

Although Spencer Miller was not an original member, he had been a member since the early 1990's. Tonya Wilson was Robert's girlfriend and a Crips "associate."

In October 2001, Keith Harrell was living in Tacoma's Hilltop neighborhood. Daron Edwards had been living with him for about seven years. There was an AM/PM store in the same neighborhood. The Crips assert dominion over an area that includes the Harrells' residence and the AM/PM store.

A rival street gang, the Bloods, originated in Compton, California. Edwards grew up in Compton but never belonged to the Bloods.

During the afternoon of October 13, 2001, Andre Bonds and Edwards had a confrontation in front of Harrell's residence. While displaying a gun, Andre said that he was revoking Edwards' Hilltop privileges and that he would return with five of his "homeboys" to enforce the revocation.

Later that night, Edwards went to Browne's Star Grill, a nightclub that the Crips frequented. Andre and Robert Bonds were there, as was Cory Thomas, a friend of Edwards. Andre hit Thomas in the face with

Edwards watching. Edwards responded by knocking Andre to the floor and hitting him several times. Robert punched Edwards in the face, and security guards ejected them all.

Outside, Edwards challenged Andre to continue the fight. The two exchanged more blows, with Edwards getting the better of Andre. Robert, Wilson, and Miller were among those watching. Edwards shouted, "This is Compton," or "I'm Compton," and Miller shouted back, "Fuck California, this is Hilltop." Edwards replied, "{Fuck} the Hilltop." As Edwards was preparing to leave, Robert took a gun from his waistband and said, "Fuck these niggers." A witness named Neecie Brown considered warning Edwards that "they got a gun," but Wilson told her to mind her own business.

Edwards, Thomas, Harrell, and several others returned to Harrell's residence. They had been back about ten minutes when the phone rang. Thomas answered and heard someone say that two of Harrell's friends were surrounded by Hilltop Crips at the AM/PM and feared for their safety.

Thomas, Edwards, and a man named Sinclair quickly drove to the AM/PM. Harrell and a person named Trent went also, but in a separate car. Thomas had a gun, and there was also a gun in Harrell's car. The time was about 2 a.m.

Andre, Robert, Wilson, Miller, and others were already at the AM/PM. Some of them were armed. Andre, Robert, and Miller

conferred, and then walked to different locations as the cars from Harrell's house arrived. Edwards got out and approached Andre, who was holding a gun. Edwards asked if Andre wanted "another ass whipping." The two exchanged words, Andre got in his car and left. At about this same time, Wilson was slowly driving a station wagon out of the parking lot with Robert as her passenger.

Gunfire then erupted from more than one place. According to several witnesses, it came from the station wagon, from an alley behind the AM/PM, and from across the street near a business called the Absolute Auto Shop. Edwards was shot in the back, hip, and arm. Harrell was shot in the head. Both survived, but Harrell remains impaired.

When police arrived, they found two pools of blood and eight shell casings. The guns were never recovered, and Miller later said they had been discarded in Seattle.

D. ARGUMENT.

1. THIS CASE IS IN AN AWKWARD PROCEDURAL POSTURE WHERE IT IS BEFORE THIS COURT ON AN APPEAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING ON THE DEFENDANT'S COLLATERAL ATTACK MOTION.

The defendant brought his motion before the trial court under CrR 7.8. As such, it is a form of collateral attack. *See* CrR 7.8(b). Procedure on collateral attack is governed by statutes (RCW 10.73.090-.140) as well

as court rules (RAP 16.4, et. al. and CrR 7.8). As explained further in section 2 below, the statutes governing collateral attack and court rules governing consideration of personal restraint petitions are complementary and work in conjunction with one another. Nonetheless, RAP 16.4, et. al. do not specifically apply to all forms of collateral attack, but only to personal restraint petitions.

Here, the trial court did not transfer the defendant's motion to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition. Instead, the court considered the motion on the merits and granted the defendant's motion to vacate the judgment and sentence. The State has now appealed, so that this case is not before this court as a personal restraint petition. Rather, it is before this court on appeal for review of the trial court's consideration and ruling on the motion.

Nonetheless it is the State's position that the trial court error below was two-fold and that the ultimate result is that this court should in the end consider the defendant's motion as a personal restraint petition, but dismiss it as time barred. First, the trial court erred when it failed to transfer the motion to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition because it was time barred. As argued in section 2 below, the opinion in *Muholland* did not constitute a significant intervening change in the law. Because the trial court erred when it failed to transfer the motion to this court as a PRP, it also erred when it entered

its order vacating the judgment and sentence where it had no authority to do so.

Where the trial court's error was its failure to transfer the motion to this court to be considered as a personal restraint petition, it is also the State's position that this court should now consider the motion as a personal restraint petition, and dismiss it as time barred. It serves no purpose and is contrary to the interests of judicial economy for this court to do nothing more than remand the matter back to the trial court with an order directing it to transfer the matter to this court to be considered as a personal restraint petition.

Because this matter is before the court on appeal, but the State also argues that the court should nonetheless also consider the motion as a personal restraint petition, the court should keep in mind the distinction between the statutes governing collateral attack, and RAP 16.4-16.15 that govern personal restraint petitions. Were the court to disagree with the State, the distinction between this court considering the case as an appeal as opposed to a personal restraint petition could possibly affect the relevant standards of review employed by the court as should become apparent from the argument in subsection 2 below.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION IS NOT TIME BARRED.

The State had argued in part in its written response to the trial court that the defendant's motion should be transferred to the court of appeals to be considered as a personal restraint petition because it was time barred. CP 104-05. However, the trial court ultimately concluded that the opinion in *In re Mulholland* was a significant change in the law, leading the trial court to hold that the defendant's claim was not time barred. CP 268 (Finding and Conclusion No. 1); *In re Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d 322. However, because the court's opinion in *Mullholland* was not a significant change in the law, the defendant's claim is time barred.

Personal restraint procedure came from the State's *habeas corpus* remedy, which is guaranteed by article 4, § 4 of the State Constitution. *In re Hagler*, 97 Wn.2d 818, 823, 650 P.2d 1103 (1982). Collateral attack by personal restraint petition is not, however, a substitute for direct appeal. *Hagler*, 97 Wn.2d. at 824. "Collateral relief undermines the principles of finality of litigation, degrades the prominence of the trial, and sometimes costs society the right to punish admitted offenders." *Hagler*, 97 Wn.2d at 824 (citing *Engle v. Issac*, 456 U.S. 107, 102 S. Ct. 1558, 71 L. Ed. 2d 783 (1982)). These costs are significant and require that collateral relief be limited in state as well as federal courts. *Hagler*, 97 Wn.2d at 824.

Because of the costs and risks involved, there is a time limit in which to file a collateral attack. The statute that sets out the time limit provides:

No petition or motion for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence in a criminal case may be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes final if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction.

RCW 10.73.090(1). Collateral attack includes personal restraint petitions, as well as a motion to vacate judgment. RCW 10.73.090(2). Where an appeal has been filed, a judgment and sentence becomes final on the date the appellate court issues its mandate. RCW 10.73.030(b).

Pursuant to RCW 10.73.090(1), petitioner could have filed a first-time personal restraint petition within one year of May 16, 2005, the date the Mandate was filed. See CP 46-70. Any fist-time collateral attack filed after May 16, 2006 is beyond the one-year collateral attack time limit. Petitioner filed this petition on October 15, 2010, over five years too late unless it falls under an exception to the collateral attack time limit.

The plain language of RCW 10.73.090(1), limits the application of the collateral attack time limit to the judgment and sentences that are 1) valid on their face and 2) rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction.

However, there are other specific exceptions to the one-year time limit for collateral attack as specified in RCW 10.73.100.

The Supreme Court has addressed what made a judgment facially invalid under RCW 10.73.090(1):

A "facial invalidity' inquiry under RCW 10.73.090 is directed to the judgment and sentence itself." In *re Pers. Restraint Hemenway*, 147 Wn.2d 529, 532, 55 P.3d 615 (2002). "Invalid on its face' means the judgment and sentence evidences the invalidity without further elaboration." *Hemenway*, 147 Wn.2d at 532 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 866-67, 50 P.3d 618 (2002); *In re Pers. Restraint of Stoudmire*, 141 Wn.2d 342, 353, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000)).

A good review of what documents other than the judgment and sentence the court has considered in finding facial invalidity occurred recently in *In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 143, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

While the Court does not limit its review for facial invalidity to the four corners of the judgment and sentence, it only considers other documents to the extent that they reveal some fact that shows the judgment and sentence is invalid on its face because of a legal error.

Coats, 173 Wn.2d. at 138-39. The court has found invalidity based upon charging documents, verdicts and plea statements of defendants on plea of guilty. In re Carrier, 173 Wn.2d 791, 799, 727 P.3d 209 (2012). While the court may consult verdict forms, it may not consult the jury instructions, trial motions, and other documents that relate to whether the

defendant received a fair trial. *In re Scott*, 173 Wn.2d 911, 917, 271 P.3d 218, (2012). "A judgment and sentence is valid on its face even if the petitioner can show some error that might have received relief if brought on direct review or in a timely personal restraint petition." *Scott*, 173 Wn.2d at 917.

In *Stoudmire*, the court held the judgment and sentence was facially invalid where the information showed that the statute of limitations had run when the counts at issue were charged so that the court lacked jurisdiction as to those counts. *Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 139 (citing *In re Stoudmire*, 141 Wn.2d at 346, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000)).

In *Thompson*, the court held the judgment and sentence was facially invalid where the information and statement of defendant on plea of guilty revealed that the crime the defendant had pleaded guilty to had not been enacted until two years after the charged conduct occurred.

Coats, 173 Wn.2d at 139 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d 712, 716, 10 P.3d 380 (2000)).

In *Hinton*, in determining facial invalidity, the court reviewed documents related to the charging instruments, statements of guilty pleas to determine that the defendant was convicted of a non-existent crime. *Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 139-40 n. 11 (citing *In re Hinton*, 152 Wn.2d 8533, 100 P.3d 801 (2004)).

A judgment and sentence is invalid if it imposes a sentence in excess of the punishment authorized by law. *In re Carrier*, 173 Wn.2d at 798. A miscalculated offender score renders a sentence invalid, and therefore may be challenged in a personal restraint petition at any time. *Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 139 n. 10 (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 865-67, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)).

An involuntary plea does not render a judgment and sentence facially invalid for purposes of circumventing the one-year bar on collateral attack under RCW 10.73.090. *In re Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 143, 267 P.3d 324 (2011).

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