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

The first four arguments are actually the same argument rephrased in four different ways; specifically that the trial court erred in finding that *Mulholland* represented a significant change in the law. It is true that the trial court's decision that *Mulholland* represented a significant change in the law had numerous ramifications with regards to how Mr. Miller's motion was handled by the trial court, i.e. the trial court found it wasn't time barred and did not transfer it to this court as a PRP. However, the impacts of the trial court's determination are really manifestations of the trial court's underlying determination that *Mulholland* represented a

significant change in the law, not separate errors committed by the trial court. Thus, the State's appeal actually presents only three non-frivoulous issues:

- (1) whether or not the trial court erred when it found that *Mulholland* presented a significant change in the law;
- (2) whether or not the trial judge erred in finding that he believed he did not have discretion to impose concurrent sentences when he sentenced Mr. Miller originally; and
- (3) whether or not Mr. Miller waived his ability to argue that the trial court erred in imposing consecutive sentences because his initial trial counsel failed to request concurrent sentences be imposed.

These legitimate issues will be discussed further below.

#### Frivolous and irrelevant issues raised by the State

The State devotes inordinately large portions of its Opening Brief discussing issues which do not relate to the issues before this court and are a waste of this court's time to consider. In fact, several times in its Opening Brief the State even admits that an issue which it has devoted several pages to discussing is actually irrelevant to this appeal. In the interests of clarity and conciseness, these frivolous issues are identified as follows and are not relevant for the following identified reasons.

#### Facial validity of the judgment and sentence

At pages 13-20 of its Opening Brief the State discusses the law regarding attacking a judgment and sentence on the basis that the judgment and sentence is facially invalid. However, as recognized by the State on page 20 of its Opening Brief, Mr. Miller's claim in this case is that the trial court failed to exercise its discretion in imposing his sentence, not that his judgment and sentence is facially invalid. The State's lengthy discussion of the law regarding facial validity of judgments and sentences is frivolous, a waste of this court's time to consider, and irrelevant to any issue before this court.

# Mr. Miller's motion was barred under RCW 10.73.140 and RAP 16.4(d)

At pages 24-26 the State discusses the law regarding successive personal restraint petitions and argues that because Mr. Miller made no showing in his motion as to why he had not discussed *Mulholland* as representing a significant change in the law in his prior PRP, his November 9 motion is barred under RCW 10.73.140 and RAP 16.4(d). However, on page 26 of its Opening Brief the State acknowledges that "[t]his case does not fall under the provision [of RCW 10.73.140 or RAP 16.4(d)] for a successive petition where the issue raised in the motion before the court was not raised previously."

If the provisions of RCW 10.73.140 and RAP 16.4(d) were not relevant to this case, then the State should not have wasted this court's time discussing them. The portions of the State's brief discussing

RCW10.73.140 and RAP 16.4(d) and successive PRPs are frivolous, irrelevant, and a waste of this court's time to consider.

## Mr. Miller received ineffective assistance of counsel/*In re Crace* was wrongly decided

As part of its argument that Mr. Miller's ability to challenge his sentence by relying on Mulholland was waived because his trial counsel failed to request concurrent sentences at Mr. Miller's initial sentencing, the State argues that the only way Mr. Miller may challenge his sentence is by arguing he received ineffective assistance of counsel. Opening Brief, p. 30-31. The State then spends pages 31-43 discussing why Mr. Miller did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. On pages 32-42 of its Opening Brief the State attacks the majority opinion in In re Crace, 157 Wn.App.81, 236 P.3d 914 (2010), arguing that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that a defendant's burden to establish ineffective assistance of counsel was the same in a PRP as it was in a direct appeal. Ineffective assistance of counsel not an issue raised at any time in the trial court in regards to Mr. Miller's motion. The State uses discussion of ineffective assistance of counsel in this case as a straw man and excuse to claim that, in spite of the holding of Crace, "It is unclear if the same standard applies when a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is raised for the first time in a personal restraint petition." State's Opening Brief, p. 32.

The issue of ineffective assistance of counsel is raised entirely by the State in its discussion of issues this court should consider when it considers Mr. Miller's motion de novo as a PRP. The entire discussion of ineffective assistance of counsel and *Crace* is utterly irrelevant to the State's appeal. As stated above, Mr. Miller never asserted that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at his sentencing hearing. Further, even if the discussion of *Crace* was somehow relevant to this case, the State's arguments about the validity of the *Crace* majority opinion fail because the Washington Supreme Court upheld Court of Appeals' ruling that a petitioner in a PRP did not have to show more prejudice on collateral attack than on appeal to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel. *In re Crace*, 174 Wn.2d 835, 846-847, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012) ("Crace need not show more prejudice on collateral attack than on direct appeal.")

The portions of the State's brief discussing ineffective assistance of counsel and *In re Crace* are frivolous, irrelevant, and a waste of this court's time to consider.

#### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. This court should deny the State's appeal where the State fails to cite any authority or present any

# arguments as to why the trial court erred in finding *Mulholland* represented a significant change in the law.

At numerous points in its Opening Brief the State makes the conclusory statements that Mulholland did not represent a significant change in the law (State's Opening Brief, p. 12) and that the trial court erred in finding that Mulholland represented a significant change in the law (State's Opening Brief, p. 22, 24, 44). However, the State never discusses why the trial court's decision was erroneous. The closest the State comes to actually presenting argument as to why the trial court's decision was in error is the State's statement on page 24 of its brief that "The opinion in Mulholland did not constitute a significant change in the law where it did not reverse established precedent." However, the State engages in no discussion of what it believes the holding of Mulholland was, what it believed the law was prior to Mulholland, or what it believes the law is after *Mulholland*. Indeed, the State's brief is composed entirely of summaries of various legal standards, most of which are inapplicable to this case. The State has presented **no** actual argument to this court regarding why the trial court's decision that Mulholland represented a significant change in the law was erroneous.

Appellants must provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3(a)(6).

Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none. Courts ordinarily will not give consideration to such errors unless it is apparent without further research that the assignments of error presented are well taken.

State v. Young, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171, cert. denied 439 U.S. 870, 99 S.Ct. 200, 58 L.Ed.2d 182 (1978).

The State's assignments of error 1 through 3 and 6 are all premised on the assertion that the trial court erring in finding that *Mulholland* represented a significant change in law. None of these assignments of error are well taken. Not only has the State failed to present any argument in support of these assignments of error, but, as will be discussed further below, the trial court's ruling that *Mulholland* represents a significant change in the law was correct.

Because the State has failed to cite any authority or present any argument as to why the trial court erred in finding that *Mulholland* represents a significant change in the law, this court should refuse to consider the portions of the State's appeal that rely on the unsupported conclusion that the trial court erred regarding *Mulholland*.

2. The trial court properly ruled that Mulholland represented a significant change in the law and therefore, that Mr. Miller's motion was not time barred, and that transfer of Mr. Miller's motion to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a PRP was unnecessary.

Under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b), whenever an individual is sentenced for two or more serious violent offenses, those sentences "shall be served consecutively to each other."

RCW 9.94A.535 provides, in pertinent part,

The court may impose a sentence outside the standard sentence range for an offense if it finds...that there are substantial and compelling reasons justifying an exceptional sentence.

\*\*\*

A departure from the standards in RCW 9.94A.589 (1) and (2) governing whether sentences are to be served consecutively or concurrently is an exceptional sentence subject to the limitations in this section, and may be appealed by the offender or the state as set forth in RCW 9.94A.585 (2) through (6).

In *Mulholland*, the Washington Supreme Court held that "under the plain language of RCW 9.94A.589(1) and RCW 9.94A.535" sentencing courts have discretion to order multiple sentences for serious violent offenses to run concurrently as an exceptional sentence if it finds that there are mitigating factors justifying such a sentence. *Mulholland*, 161 Wn.2d at 327-331, 166 P.3d 677.

Prior to *Mulholland*, consecutive sentences were believed to be mandatory for multiple serious violent offenses. *See e.g. State v. Flett*, 98 Wn.App. 799, 806, 992 P.2d 1028, *review denied*, 141 Wn.2d 1002 (2000) ("Here, the trial court ordered four consecutive sentences for the first degree assaults because they are serious violent offenses required to be consecutively sentenced...Consecutive sentencing is mandatory.")

The Supreme Court's ruling in *Mulholland* that sentencing courts had discretion to impose exceptional downward sentences of concurrent sentences when sentencing on multiple serious violent offenses was a significant change in the law.

a. The trial court did not err when it found that Mr. Miller's November 9, 2010 was not time barred under RCW 10.73.090.

Under CrR 7.8(b), motions for relief from judgment are subject to RCW 10.73.090 and RCW 10.73.100.

Under RCW 10.73.090, "No petition or motion for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence in a criminal case may be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes final if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction."

However, under RCW 10.73.100(6), "The time limit specified in RCW 10.73.090 does not apply to a petition or motion that is based solely

on one or more of the following grounds:...There has been a significant change in the law."

In this case, the trial court properly determined that *Mulholland* represented a significant change in the law of Washington. Accordingly, the trial court found that Mr. Miller's motion was not time barred by RCW 10.73.090 because *Mulholland* represented a significant change in the law which was material to Mr. Miller's sentence, and, therefore, found that Mr. Miller's motion was allowed under RCW 10.73.100(6). The trial are court did not err in finding Mr. Miller's motion was not time barred.

b. The trial court did not err in considering Mr.

Miller's November 9, 2010 motion and not transferring it to the Court of Appeals.

Under CrR 7.8(c)(2),

The court shall transfer a motion filed by a defendant to the Court of Appeals for consideration as a personal restraint petition unless the court determines that the motion is not barred by RCW 10.73.090 and either (i) the defendant has made a substantial showing that he or she is entitled to relief or (ii) resolution of the motion will require a factual hearing.

As stated above, the trial court found that Mr. Miller's motion was not barred by RCW 10.73.090 and, on October 7, 2011, held that a further factual hearing was necessary "to determine whether at the 2001 sentencing there was error based on the recent Supreme Court holding from *State v. Mulholland*, [sic] because I think that we're at the point of

starting to introduce evidence at this point and we need to have a show cause hearing." RP 9, 10-17-11.

Thus, the trial court held that Mr. Miller's motion was not barred by RCW 10.73.090 and that resolution of the motion required a factual hearing. The trial court did not err in not transferring Mr. Miller's case to the Court of Appeals.

3. Judge Cuthbertson court did not err in finding that he believed he did not have discretion to impose concurrent sentences when he sentenced Mr. Miller originally.

The State's argument as to why Judge Cuthbertson erred in finding that he believed he did not have discretion to run Mr. Miller's sentences concurrently when he sentenced Mr. Miller in 2001 appears to be that Judge Cuthbertson gave Mr. Miller's codefendant, Ms. Tonya Wilson, an exceptional sentence below the standard range, therefore Judge Cuthbertson was aware that he had discretion to run Mr. Miller's sentences concurrently as an exceptional downward sentence. State's Opening Brief, p. 29-30.

Ms. Wilson was also convicted of two serious violent offense. CP 145-263 (*See* Exhibit C, p. 42, lines 6-7). Judge Cuthbertson did, in fact, impose exceptional downward sentences on each count. CP 145-263 (*See* Exhibit C, p. 63-65). However, Judge Cuthbertson *did not* run the

sentences concurrently. CP 145-263 (*See* Exhibit C, p. 63, lines 11-12, page 65, lines 13-16). In fact, Judge Cuthbertson specifically indicated that the sentences ran consecutively because they were serious violent offenses. CP 145-263 (*See* Exhibit C, p. 63, lines 11-15).

The fact that Judge Cuthbertson imposed an exceptional downward sentence on Mr. Miller's codefendant that was *not* a sentence of concurrent sentences for serious violent offenses does not establish that Judge Cuthbertson was aware that he could run the sentences for serious violent offenses concurrently.

Nothing in the record contradicts Judge Cuthbertson's candid and honest finding that he did not believe when he sentenced Mr. Miller that he had the discretion to run Mr. Miller's sentences concurrently. The state's argument fails.

4. Mr. Miller did not waive his ability to argue that the trial court erred in imposing consecutive sentences because his initial trial counsel failed to request concurrent sentences be imposed.

The State argues that Mr. Miller waived his ability to challenge his sentence under *Mulholland* because his trial counsel did not request that his sentences be run concurrently. State's Opening Brief, p. 30-31. The State cites no authority in support of its proposition that the failure of Mr.

Miller's trial counsel to request Mr. Miller's sentences be run concurrently waived the issue.

Where a legal principle has not been established at the time of a defendant's trial, that defendant cannot be said to have waived the right to argue for the application of that principle by failing to argue that the principle be observed at trial. For example, in *State v. Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d 292, 253 P.3d 84 (2011), the court was dealing with whether or not an appellant court challenge the search of his or her vehicle incident to his or her arrest for the first time on appeal under *Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S.*——, 129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d 485 (2009) where the appellant did not challenge the search under *Gant* at trial and the trial occurred before *Gant* was decided. In discussing whether the principles of issue preclusion applied to bar review of the *Gant* issue for the first time on appeal, the *Robinson* court held that

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